
Page 1 of 11 
 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

BEAUMONT DIVISION 
 
 
WENDY A. HOLST         § 
 Plaintiff,         § 

§ 
v.           §  Case No. ______________________ 
           § 
UNITED STATES POSTAL SERVICE,      § 
MEGAN BRENNAN, Postmaster General     §   Jury Demanded 
of the United States of America, AND      § 
THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA      § 
 Defendants.         § 
 

PLAINTIFF’S ORIGINAL COMPLAINT 
 
TO THE HONORABLE JUDGE OF SAID COURT: 

COMES NOW, Plaintiff, WENDY A. HOLST (hereinafter referred to as “Plaintiff” 

or “Holst”), and files her Original Complaint, complaining of Defendants, UNITED STATES 

POSTAL SERVICE, MEGAN BRENNAN, Postmaster General of the United States of 

America, and THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, and respectfully sets forth and alleges, 

upon information and belief, as follows: 

I.  
PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

 
 1. This lawsuit seeks damages by Plaintiff against the Defendants for violations of the 

Civil Rights Act of 1964 as amended (42 U.S.C. §2000e-1 et. seq) as made applicable to federal 

government employees (42 U.S.C. §2000e-16).  Specifically, Plaintiff (a USPS worker) alleges 

that she was subjected to discrimination and unlawful retaliation by her superior when Plaintiff 

reported and filed grievances against her superior for discrimination that ultimately resulted in 

Plaintiff’s suspension without pay on or about September 9, 2016 and her subsequent termination 

from the USPS on or about November 18, 2016. 
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 2. Plaintiff additionally asserts that the USPS and the American Postal Workers Union 

(“APWU”) entered into a settlement agreement entitled “Pre-Arbitration Agreement,” dated 

August 6, 2018, thereby resolving Plaintiff’s two (2) grievances.  (See Exhibit “A”).  In part, the 

Pre-Arbitration Agreement provided that Plaintiff would be reinstated and paid her back wages 

from September 9, 2016 through March 30, 2018, minus applicable deductions and taxes.  The 

Pre-Arbitration Agreement was signed by Mr. B.A. Hardison on behalf of the USPS, and by Mr. 

Charles Tillman, the Union Representative with the APWU acting on behalf of Holst.  The USPS 

breached that agreement by failing to timely reinstate the Plaintiff and by failing to pay Plaintiff 

any of the back pay she was and is still owed. 

II.  
JURISDICTION 

 
 3. This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1346 in that an 

agency of the United States is the defendant. 

III.  
VENUE 

 
 4. Venue is proper in this the United States District Court for the Eastern District of 

Texas – Beaumont Division, under 28 U.S.C. §1391(e), as this action is against the United States 

of America, an agency of the United States, and a federal officer of the United States, and this case 

arises under the laws of the United States and a substantial part of the events or omissions giving 

rise to the claims occurred within the Eastern District of Texas; specifically, in Warren, Texas at 

the Warren Post Office. 

IV.  
PARTIES 

 
 5. Plaintiff, Wendy A. Holst, is an individual of the full age of majority residing in 

Kountze, Hardin County, Texas. 
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 6. Made Defendant herein is the United States Postal Service (“USPS”), who was 

the employer of Ms. Kalyn Snider, is responsible for the conduct and actions of its employees and 

the claims asserted by the Plaintiff herein.  Pursuant to Rule 4 of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure, the USPS shall be served with service of process with the summons and complaint 

through the following: 

a. Joseph D. Brown, U.S. Attorney, Eastern District of Texas, 350 
Magnolia Avenue, Suite 150, Beaumont, Texas 77701;  

 
b. William Barr, U.S. Attorney General, Department of Justice, 950 

Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W., Washington, D.C., 20530; and 
 
c. Megan Brennan, Postmaster General of the United States of America, 

475 L’Enfant Plaza Southwest, Suite 2P600, Washington, D.C., 20260.   
 

7. Made Defendant herein is Megan Brennan, the Postmaster General of the United 

States of America.  Defendant, Megan Brennan is being sued herein in her official capacity as the 

Postmaster General of the United States of America and shall be served with service of process 

with the summons and complaint through the following: 

a. Joseph D. Brown, U.S. Attorney, Eastern District of Texas, 350  
Magnolia Avenue, Suite 150, Beaumont, Texas 77701;  

 
b. William Barr, U.S. Attorney General, Department of Justice, 950 

Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W., Washington, D.C., 20530; and 
 
c. Megan Brennan, Postmaster General of the United States of America,  

475 L’Enfant Plaza Southwest, Suite 2P600, Washington, D.C., 20260. 
 

8. Made Defendant herein is the United States of America, who shall be served with 

service of process with the summons and complaint through the following: 

a. Joseph D. Brown, U.S. Attorney, Eastern District of Texas, 350  
Magnolia Avenue, Suite 150, Beaumont, Texas 77701; and 

 
b. William Barr, U.S. Attorney General, Department of Justice, 950 

Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W., Washington, D.C., 20530. 
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 9. Defendants, the United States Postal Service, Megan Brennan (Postmaster 

General), and the United States of America will be referred to hereinafter collectively as the 

“USPS.” 

V.  
FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

 
 10. Holst was Sales/Service Distribution Associate (a/k/a a PTF Clerk) assigned to and 

working in the Warren Post Office, located in Warren, Texas, in 2016. 

11. Holst was wrongfully suspended on September 9, 2016 (without pay) and 

subsequently terminated by her supervisor, Warren Post Office Postmaster, Kalyn Snider 

(“Snider”), effective on November 18, 2016, in retaliation for EEOC related activities that Holst 

was engaged in on September 8, 2016, and on October 3, 2016.  Snider retaliated against Holst 

after Holst filed two (2) grievances against Snider: 1) one on September 8, 2016 (Grievance No. 

Warren 16-CK-253), and 2) one on October 3, 2016 (Grievance No. Warren-16-CK-260). 

12. The primary charge that Snider lodged against Holst was for alleged improper 

conduct that allegedly occurred on September 8, 2016, wherein Snider alleged that Holst acted in 

a hostile and threatening manner when she began to throw paper and other items across the floor, 

as well as becoming aggressive, extremely loud, using curse words, and making false statements 

(allegedly about Snider).  However, all of the alleged statements and purported conduct of Holst 

were alleged solely by Snider, for which she provided written disciplinary action proposals, which 

were dated September 13, 2016, as well as alleged interviews that occurred between Snider and 

Holst on or about September 8, 2016, in the presences of American Postal Workers Union 

(“APWU”) President and representative, Ms. Lynn Jenkins, and Postmaster from Port Arthur, 

Texas, Mr. Anthony Lee. 
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13. Holst filed her official and separate EEO Charge of Discrimination through the 

USPS EEO process, and was assigned EEO Case No. 4G-770-0054-17 on March 14, 2017, 

asserting that the discipline that she received (i.e., suspension and later, termination), were the 

result of discrimination and retaliation for her prior EEO activities, such as filing her grievances.1  

 14. There has been no evidence presented to date by the USPS to support such 

allegations that the events Snider claims actually occurred, and there are no witnesses to such 

incidents. 

 15. Snider died in the fall of 2017, making it difficult, if not impossible, for the USPS 

to corroborate her statements relating to her suspension and termination of Holst in 2016.   

 16. The USPS has no material witnesses or other direct evidence that can back up or 

support any of the allegations that were asserted in the complaint by Snider that would justify her 

suspension and subsequent termination of Holst, which was done purely for retaliation for prior 

complaints that Holst had filed against Snider regarding Snider’s improper handling of personnel 

matters in the Warren Post Office, including but not limited to Holst’s grievances of Snider’s 

improper criticisms of personnel and improper handling of hiring new employees. 

 17. After nearly two (2) years of the grievance process, on August 6, 2018, the USPS 

and APWU entered into a Pre-Arbitration Agreement which was intended to be a full settlement 

of Holst’s claims.  The agreement called for the payment of Holst’s back pay from September 9, 

2016, the first date of her wrongful suspension, through March 30, 2018, the last day before Ms. 

Holst’s agreed upon reinstatement.  The agreement also called for Ms. Holst’s reinstatement with 

the USPS with the Warren Post Office the next scheduled work day. 

 
1 It should be noted that the claims and damages asserted and sought (such as backpay) in Holst’s grievances and in 
the EEO Charge of Discrimination were similar and perhaps overlapped. 
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 18. However, Holst was not reinstated until January 19, 2019, and no back pay 

(including past lost wages, lost health insurance benefits, lost retirement benefits, lost sick leave, 

and lost annual leave) has been paid to her to date.   

 19. The actions of the USPS, as described above, have caused Holst to sustain actual 

damages, consequential damages, and severe mental anguish beyond March 30, 2019, until 

January 19, 2019, when Plaintiff was fully reinstated to her old position with the Warren Post 

Office. 

VI.  
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURE 

 
20. After a lengthy EEO claims process, Holst’s EEO Charge of Discrimination under 

Case No. 4G-770-0054-17 was dismissed by an administrative judge on October 24, 2018.  

21. Holst timely appealed the administrative decision and was assigned Appeal No. 

2019001639, on November 28, 2018.  That appeal affirmed the decision of the administrative 

judge on September 25, 2019.  Holst received notice of the appellate decision on or about October 

4, 2019. 

22. In accordance with the Complainant’s Right to File a Civil Action as detailed in the 

EEOC’s Final Decision, Holst hereby timely files this civil action in the appropriate United States 

District Court.  All conditions precedent have been met. 

VII.  
CAUSES OF ACTION 

 
 23. Pursuant to the foregoing allegations and claims, Holst asserts that she has been 

discriminated against on the basis of her EEOC related activities in violation of Title VII.  Holst 

further asserts that she was retaliated against for having complained about the illegal 
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discrimination caused by her supervisor, Snider.  As a result of such discrimination, Holst 

sustained damages (as more fully described below) that she seeks to recover herein. 

 24. Holst further asserts that she is a direct and/or third party beneficiary of the Pre-

Arbitration Agreement between the USPS and the APWU and that the USPS breached the Pre-

Arbitration Agreement dated August 6, 2018, by failing to timely reinstate her and by failing to 

pay her any of her back pay from September 9, 2016 through March 30, 2018, minus applicable 

deductions and taxes.  As a result, Holst sustained actual damages due to the breach of nonpayment 

and more damages by not being fully reinstated until January 19, 2019. 

VIII. 
DAMAGES 

 
 25. Given the foregoing allegations and claims, Plaintiff seeks recover of the following 

categories and amounts of damages: 

a. Past Lost Wages.  In 2016, Holst was earning $4,600.00 per month at a rate 
of $28.75 per hour, as a full-time employee (40 hours per week).  Based on USPS 
policies and guidelines, on November 26, 2016, Holst’s hourly rate was to increase 
to $29.12 per hour.  Also, on November 25, 2017, Holst’s wages would have 
increased to $4,766.40 per month, which equates to a rate of $29.79 per hour.  Her 
last paycheck before her wrongful termination was issued on September 15, 2016 
(but was paid through September 8, 2016).  Therefore, her past lost wages are 
calculated as follows: 
 
2016    Hourly Rate    Amount 
 
September 9-30, 2016  $28.75     $3,680.00 
October 2016   $28.75     $4,600.00 
November 2016  $28.75 - $29.12 (11/26/16)  $5,068.88 
December 2016  $29.12     $5,125.12 
 
Total for 2016        $18,474.00 
 
2017    Hourly Rate    Amount 
 
January 2017   $29.12     $4,659.20 
February 2017   $29.12     $4,659.20 
March 2017   $29.12     $4,659.20 

Case 1:19-cv-00641-MJT   Document 1   Filed 12/30/19   Page 7 of 11 PageID #:  7



Page 8 of 11 
 

April 2017   $29.12     $4,659.20 
May 2017   $29.12     $4,659.20 
June 2017   $29.12     $4,659.20 
July 2017   $29.12     $4,659.20 
August 2017   $29.12     $4,659.20 
September 2017  $29.12     $4,659.20 
October 2017   $29.12     $4,659.20 
November 2017  $29.12 - $29.79 (11/25/17)  $5,146.56 
December 2017  $29.79     $4,766.40 
 
Total for 2017        $56,504.96  
 
2018    Hourly Rate    Amount 
 
January 2018   $29.79     $4,766.40 
February 2018   $29.79     $4,766.40 
March 2018   $30.05 (3/3/18)   $4,808.00 
April 2018   $30.05     $4,808.00 
May 2018   $30.05     $4,808.00 
June 2018   $30.05     $4,808.00 
July 2018   $30.05     $4,808.00 
August 2018   $30.05     $4,808.00 
September 2018  $30.05     $4,808.00 
October 2018   $30.05     $4,808.00 
November 2018  $30.05     $4,808.00 
December 2018  $30.05     $4,808.00 
 
Total for 2018        $105,276.80 
 
The total for all past lost wages through January 19, 2019, the date at which Ms. 
Holst was reinstated, is $180,255.76. 
 
b. Lost Health Insurance.  Ms. Holst also lost her health insurance benefits 
when she was wrongfully terminated.  According to her 2018 Personal Statement 
of Benefits received from the USPS, she should have received $11,546.24 in USPS 
benefits (or investments from the USPS), which would be reduced by five percent 
(5%) each year thereafter.  Ms. Holst’s lost health insurance benefits are as follows: 
 
 September-December 2016  $685.30 
 2017     $11,546.24 
 2018     $10,968.93 
  
 Total     $23,200.47 
 
c. Lost Retirement Benefits, Sick Leave, and Annual Leave.  Additionally, 
Ms. Holst is owed the following damages due to her wrongful termination: 

Case 1:19-cv-00641-MJT   Document 1   Filed 12/30/19   Page 8 of 11 PageID #:  8



Page 9 of 11 
 

 
i. Holst had accumulated the following amounts for sick leave and 

annual leave that carried over from 2015 as of the date of December 
30, 2016: 

 
 Unused Sick Leave (438.98 hours)  $13,288.36 
 Unused Annual Leave (91.25 hours)  $2,435.30 
 
 Total (530.23 hours)    $15,723.66 
 

ii. In addition, Holst earned 104 hours of sick leave for 2016 and would 
have earned 104 hours of sick leave for 2017 and 2018 each.  Based 
on her respective hourly rates for each year, she would have earned 
the following additional sick leave: 

  
 Year  Hours  Hourly Rate  Amount 
  
 2016  104 hours $28.75   $2,990.00 
 2017  104 hours $29.12   $3,028.48 
 2018  104 hours $29.79   $3,098.16 
 
  Total 312 hours    $9,116.64 
 

iii. Holst earned 160 hours of annual leave for 2016 and would have 
earned 160 hours of annual leave for both 2017 and 2018.  
Accordingly, her loss of past annual leave is calculated as follows: 

 
 Year  Hours  Hourly Rate  Amount 
  
 2016  160 hours $28.75   $4,600.00 
 2017  160 hours $29.12   $4,659.20 
 2018  160 hours $29.79   $4,766.40 
 
  Total 312 hours    $14,025.60 
 
 iv. Holst was also earning approximately $5,500.00 per year from  

the USPS portion or investment toward her retirement plan,  
according to her 2017 Personal Statement of Benefits showing the 
amounts she had earned in 2016, prior to termination.  As a result, 
Holst lost retirement benefits that average approximately $5,500.00 
per year.  Thus, for 2017 and 2018, Holst lost approximately 
$11,000.00. 

 
 v. The actions of the USPS as described above have caused Holst  

to sustain severe mental anguish for which she seeks recompense in 
the amount of at least $200,000.00. 
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 26. Given the above-listed damages, which Holst has sustained due to the 

discriminatory and/or retaliatory actions of the USPS and its employee(s) that led to her wrongful 

suspension and termination, Holst has suffered and seeks approximately $453,322.13 in damages 

for her past lost wages, lost health insurance benefits, lost retirement benefits, lost sick leave, lost 

annual leave, and mental anguish. 

IX.  
ATTORNEY FEES 

 
 27. As a result of the unlawful conduct of the USPS, Plaintiff Holst has had to retain 

the services of the undersigned counsel and seeks recovery of her attorney’s fees incurred in 

prosecuting this case.  Title VII provides for the recovery of attorney’s fees by a prevailing 

plaintiff. 

 28. Holst also seeks recovery of her attorney fees pursuant to Texas Civil Practice & 

Remedies Code §38.001 for the USPS’s breach of its Pre-Arbitration Agreement. 

X.  
PRAYER 

 
 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, WENDY A. HOLST, prays that this Court enter judgment in 

her favor and against Defendant in the form as follows: 

 a. Back pay from September 9, 2016, to January 19, 2019, less any interim earnings 

or benefit payments; 

 b. Compensatory damages in the amount of $453,322.13 or such amount as 

determined by the finder of fact; 

 c. Attorney’s fees; 

 d. Costs of court; 

 e.  Penalties, as allowed by law, if any; 
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 e. Prejudgment interest; 

 f. Post judgment interest as allowed by law; and 

 g. Any and all other damages to which Plaintiff may be entitled to receive, whether 

provided by law or in equity. 

 Respectfully Submitted: 

KEBODEAUX, HARGRODER & ASSOCIATES, L.L.P. 
 
/s/Casey H. Hargroder    
CASEY H. HARGRODER 
State Bar No. 24050718 
2905 Toccoa Street 
Beaumont, Texas 77703 
(409) 832-0347 telephone 
(409) 838-0167 facsimile 
chargroder@khalaw.com 
 
ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF, 
WENDY A. HOLST 
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